IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 21 1995
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 82,365

ALLAN GEE, as Official
Liquidator of UNIVERSAL
CASUALTY & SURETY COMPANY,
LTD. (in Liquidation),

Petitioner,

v.

SEIDMAN & SEIDMAN, and BINDER DIJKE OTTE & CO., et al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ANDERSON MOSS PARKS & SHEROUSE, P.A. Suite 2500 New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132

-andRUSSO, TALISMAN & MOYLAN, P.A. 2601 South Bayshore Drive Suite 2001, Terremark Centre Coconut Grove, Florida 33133
Telephone (305) 859-8100

Attorneys for Petitioner Liquidator Allan Gee

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. Statement of the case<sup>2</sup>

#### 1. The lawsuit

Cayman insurance company Universal Casualty and Surety Company ("Universal") was placed in liquidation under the supervision of the Cayman Grand Court in September of 1984. (T. 722).<sup>3</sup> Allan Gee, an English chartered accountant with the Cayman office of Ernst & Young, was appointed Liquidator of Universal. (T. 677, 683; Plaintiff's Exhibit #2). While reviewing Universal's books and records, collecting its assets, and putting its affairs in order, the Liquidator discovered evidence that Universal's assets were not as represented in its audited financial statements, thus indicating, *inter alia*, malpractice on the part of Universal's auditors, BDO Seidman. (T. 388-400; 691-712). The Liquidator therefore sought and obtained an order from the Cayman Grand Court authorizing the Liquidator to bring this action for accounting malpractice against BDO Seidman. (R. 200-201, 714).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The record references herein are made as follows. The original record from the trial court and the Third District is referred to as R. \_\_\_\_. The trial transcript is referred to as T. \_\_\_\_. The supplemental record consisting of additional materials from the Florida Third District Court of Appeal, and added by stipulation of the parties, is referred to as SR. \_\_\_\_. All emphasis in this brief is supplied unless otherwise stated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A United States bankruptcy court, which issued rulings on certain early discovery efforts by the Liquidator, discussed at length the Cayman Island liquidation laws and court procedures and determined that they are much the same as those in the United States and comport with United States due process requirements. *In re Gee*, 53 B.R. 891, 901-904 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>It is undisputed that the Liquidator has standing to bring all claims belonging to Universal, including this claim against its former auditors. (R. 200-201).

## 2. The trial, verdict and judgment

The suit was filed in 1987 and proceeded through three years of discovery and procedural skirmishing. (R. 2-856). At the end of a month long jury trial beginning in November, 1990, the jury found, simply enough, that there was negligence on the part of the BDO Seidman auditors which was a legal cause of damage to Universal Casualty and that the damage caused by such negligence was \$15.7 million. (R. 1098-1099).

## 3. The appeal to the Third District

BDO Seidman appealed to the Third District raising a variety of evidentiary and legal issues. (SR. 1-43). Significantly, BDO Seidman did not contend on appeal that the negligence and damages findings were against the manifest weight of the evidence. (R. and SR. passim).<sup>5</sup> The Third District's decision also found no error in connection with the jury's findings on negligence and damages, and assumes that those findings were sufficiently supported by the evidence to have passed beyond appellate interference. (R. 2080-2086). Nonetheless, the Third District reversed, not because of any trial error or lack of evidentiary support for the jury verdict, but on a theory of an *equitable* defense of estoppel, which the Third District decided should be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Seidman specifically conceded on appeal that its negligence was no longer an issue. (SR. 11, 115). As to damages, Seidman had two arguments. Seidman disagreed with the Liquidator's claims processing methodology. (SR. 12-13). Seidman also argued that the damages sought were really the creditors' damages, ignoring the case law cited in the argument section below that a company itself is damaged by an artificial prolongation of its corporate life beyond insolvency and, if such a prolongation is *tortiously* caused, the company may recover its net deficit from the tortfeasors. Seidman's "heads I win, tails you lose" argument in this regard was that *no one* could recover for the damages caused by Seidman's now conceded negligence. Seidman contended that the creditors could not recover because they were not in privity with Seidman and that Universal, which *did* have privity, could not recover because it was really creditors' rights and damages which were involved. (See, e.g., R. 234-235, 770, 1954-1965, 1686; SR. 14).

extended to relieve the wrongdoing auditors from the obligation to pay for the damages caused by their tortious conduct. (SR. 2082-2086).

Specifically, the Third District held on an estoppel theory that the auditors would not have to pay for the damages caused to their client Universal Casualty by their negligence because there was a manager within Universal committing fraud and this fraud should be imputed to the company as a "benefit" defeating the Liquidator's recovery from the negligent auditors. (SR. 2082-2086).

The Petitioner/Liquidator moved for rehearing, certification and rehearing *en banc*. (SR. 133-211). The Third District denied the rehearing motions, but certified the case as passing upon a question of great public importance. (SR. 2091-2092).<sup>6</sup> This Court thereafter issued an order which directed the parties to proceed with briefing the merits, and which carried the jurisdictional issue with the case. (Florida Supreme Court Order dated November 2, 1993).

#### B. Statement of the facts

The following is provided as an overview of the record facts pertinent to consideration of these review proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Because the Third District did not rule upon the Petitioner's request for certification at the time that the order was issued denying rehearing and rehearing *en banc*, Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on grounds of express and direct conflict. Petitioner also submitted his jurisdictional brief. Thereafter the Third District issued its order of certification, and this Court directed the parties to proceed with briefs on the merits, carrying the jurisdictional question with the case.

## 1. Trial evidence supporting the jury's verdict

### a. Liability

In the summer of 1978, Universal Casualty — through one of its managing directors, Vishwah Shah — retained BDO Seidman to audit its company records. (T. 562-563). The audit work, as it turned out, consisted of little more than auditing one item, since Universal had only one substantial asset to speak of, a \$10 million certificate of deposit from Merchant & Shipowners Bank, a 'bank' purportedly located on the small Caribbean island of St. Vincent. (T. 2540, 3152, 3197, 3152, 3157). This 'bank' was nothing but a phony shell bank that was the subject of a variety of fraud investigations in the United States. (T. 292-293, 299-317, 1429-1430) A Banking Circular issued by the Chief of Fraud of the U.S. Office of the Comptroller stated: "It is suggested that extreme caution be exercised in conducting any transactions involving this bank", which meant that the Comptroller had "substantial evidence that [Merchants & Shipowners] was an illegal corporation." (T. 316, 318-325; Plaintiff's Composite Trial Exhibit #1). The most routine — and required — audit procedures would immediately have led to this circular and the information about Merchants' & Shipowners' illegal status, and thus to the information that Merchants & Shipowners certainly had no \$10 million of Universal's. (T. 454-458; 1429-1430, 1462; Shockey Depo. 312).

Trial testimony also established that any accounting firm performing an audit in a Caribbean setting was required to know that the St. Vincent locale of Merchants & Shipowners was a red flag of the first-order, since St. Vincent's was a notorious home for fraudulent shell banks in the mid and late 1970's. (T. 454, 679, 1430). Standard audit procedures required BDO Seidman to visit the home office of Merchants & Shipowners in St. Vincent's, where the auditors

would *immediately* have discovered that Merchants & Shipowners never did any banking and never even had an office. (T. 472, 485). Worse, BDO Seidman knew Merchants & Shipowners had common ownership with Universal which relationship necessitated even more intense scrutiny under accepted auditing standards. (T. 1417-1418, 1467-68, 3152).

Despite the easily visible storm warnings about Merchants & Shipowners, BDO Seidman never bothered to call or visit the bank, although the most basic audit procedures absolutely required them to do so. (T. 459, 487, 1420-1421, 1428-1429, 1455, 1659, 1664, 1667-1668). Doing either would readily have revealed that the only substantial asset BDO Seidman was auditing was phony, and that no \$10 million dollars ever existed as a Universal asset. (T. 459, 487, 1420-1421, 1428-1429, 1455, 1659, 1664, 1667-1668).

Other red flags surrounded the Universal audit assignment. Two reputable accounting firms — Coopers & Lybrand and Touche Ross — had previously withdrawn and refused to perform Universal's audits precisely because of the Merchants & Shipowners CD, and BDO Seidman knew this before taking the Universal engagement. (T. 1483, 1499-1500, 2272, 2485-2491, 2584-2599; Kremer Depo. 147-150, 160, 175). In addition to the two Big Eight accounting firms' refusal to take on the Universal audit, BDO Seidman also knew that attorneys had refused to act for Universal because of concerns about the unverified \$10 million CD. (T. 1528).

Notwithstanding the warning signals which should have led BDO Seidman to decline the audit work or, having accepted, to exercise all professional auditing care for Universal as its client, BDO Seidman took on the work but performed it so negligently that for *years* it issued grossly inaccurate audit reports for Universal. (Plaintiff's Composite Trial Exhibit No. 13). The first Seidman audit report for Universal was issued in June of 1978. Additional reports were issued thereafter for the years ending December 31, 1978, 1979, 1980, and 1981. (Plaintiff's

Composite Trial Exhibit No. 13). In each audit, BDO Seidman affirmatively — and without qualification — verified the existence of the non-existent \$10 million "asset". (Plaintiff's Composite Exhibit 13; T. 1410, 1585-1586).

BDO Seidman's failures to discover the easily detectable problem with the St. Vincent's shell bank and its non-existent CD for the first years of the audits were followed by a commensurately egregious auditing error. (T. 1433-1461). The Merchants & Shipowners CD was eventually replaced with a \$10 million "rent-a-CD", an ephemeral 'asset' that exists for only 24 hours, and may be had for the price of a few thousand dollars in rental fees — as BDO Seidman could and should have easily ascertained, but did not. (T. 1433-1461; Kaltman Depo. 8-15).

Notwithstanding Universal's lack of any substantial capitalization, the BDO Seidman audits — affirming that there was such capitalization — enabled Universal to get into business on an international scale as an insurer and reinsurer. (See, e.g., T. 721; Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 14). During the period covered by the Seidman audits from 1978 through the end of 1982, Universal took in total premiums of approximately \$16 million. (Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit No. 13, BDO Seidman Audit Reports for Universal 1978-1982). Universal also paid out policyholder losses as they arose and came due — over \$6.5 million was paid on policyholder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>BDO Seidman had also specifically committed to perform the Universal audits under the stringent New York statutory accounting principles for insurance companies, which prescribe a conservative approach to ensure that funds will be available to pay policyholders. (T. 1178-1181, 2531-36; Plaintiff's Composite Trial Exhibit 13). As it turned out, Dennis Kremer — the assigned audit partner — did not perform the audits under New York statutory accounting principles, and did not even know what they prescribed. (T. 2531-2553). This dereliction was significant because the statutory accounting principles prohibit more than 10% of an insurance company's assets from being deposited with any one U.S. bank — even a solid domestic bank like Chase Manhattan — and prohibit more than 1% from being kept in a foreign bank. (T. 1178-1181). The \$10 million in CD's — representing 96% of Universal's assets — was a clear violation of these statutory accounting principles, and resulted in just the problem those principles were designed to prevent — unavailability of funds to pay policyholders' losses. (T. 1178-1181, 2543).

losses. (*Id.*). During that same period, millions of dollars were being taken out of Universal reported as 'dividends' to stockholders, Shah being the only stockholder ever individually identified.<sup>8</sup>

However, because — as Seidman should readily have discovered — the company did not have the \$10 million in capitalization, Seidman should also have recognized that the 'dividends' Shah was taking were not legitimate dividends at all but rather a flat-out looting of the company's available cash. (T. 1656). The following comparison of net income and "dividends" from 1979 to 1982 charts the thefts by Shah which cumulatively contributed to Universal's deepening insolvency and ultimate inability to pay the claims of its insureds.

	Net Income	'Dividends'
1979	\$1,078,867	\$ 713,000
1980	\$1,866,871	\$1,780,000
1981	\$1,204,611	\$2,103,150
1982	\$ 293,815	\$1,305,556

(Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 13).

Had BDO Seidman properly discharged their auditing duties, they would have immediately discovered that no \$10 million in assets existed for Universal, would have withdrawn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>As the bankruptcy court in New York noted in issuing an early opinion concerning the Liquidator's right to search for Universal records, the ownership of Universal was a hazy subject: "The record contains contradictory evidence of [Universal's] holding company's immediate and beneficial ownership. [Liquidator] Gee has apparently not yet unraveled that small mystery." *In re Gee*, 53 B.R. 891 n. 1 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1985). Subsequent discovery and the evidence at trial did not dispel the clouds (Kremer Depo. 273-283), and BDO Seidman certainly never bothered to pin down the facts on Universal's ownership, notwithstanding their auditing duty to do so. (*See*, e.g., T. 1418-1419). Because it was Seidman's affirmative defense that Shah's conduct should be imputed to the Liquidator since it "benefitted" Universal, if the identity of, or amounts received by, other stockholders, if any, is material, Seidman had the burden of proof on the subject.

from the audit and the client, and would never have issued the unqualified audit statements which launched Universal's international business, artificially kept it afloat for years, and allowed Shah to bleed it dry by letting him take out Universal's cash in the guise of 'dividends.' (T. 459, 471, 487, 508, 1428-1429, 1585, 1586, 1659). BDO Seidman's audit work alone stood to shield Universal and its policyholders from financial disaster, but because Seidman did not perform Universal's audits with the requisite auditing care, disaster followed as the night the day. (*Id.*)

## b. Causation and damages

The manifest weight of the evidence introduced at trial demonstrated that it was BDO Seidman's audit reports which caused Universal to acquire ever deepening indebtedness to its policyholders, and BDO Seidman's negligent auditing which allowed Shah to loot Universal. (See, e.g., T. 1118-1125, 1121, 1232-1233, 1503, 2995; Kramer Depo. 528-529; Haggerty Depo. 98; Butterworth Depo. 9, 14-15). The evidence showed that without the BDO Seidman audits Universal would not have been able to operate as an international reinsurer and collect the premiums it did (substantial portions of which were looted out by Shah, as detailed above), or acquire the insurance obligations it did. (*Id.*).

The words of BDO Seidman's own John Abernathy, who in 1978 was the managing partner of BDO Seidman's New York office and reviewing partner on the Universal audits (T. 562), offered the most graphic articulation of the significance of certified financial statements for Universal: "The company is in need of certified financial statements immediately, as they are turning down business until such certification can be obtained". (Memorandum dated May 2, 1978, Plaintiffs' Composite Exhibit 12, No. 21).

Trial witnesses for both parties who had experience or expertise in the reinsurance market were also in agreement on the necessity of audited financial statements for Universal to transact business in that market. (T. 1118-1125, 1221, 2995, Haggerty Depo. 24). As explained by one of BDO Seidman's own experts, insurance companies base decisions to buy reinsurance coverage on the financial stability of the company they are considering doing business with, and they look at the financial statement to determine this stability. (T. 2995). For companies such as Universal, which were not listed in the standard industry reference books, "the only other way to do business is to have an audit." (Haggerty Depo. 24). BDO Seidman certainly knew that its audited statements for Universal were being disseminated by the hundreds. (Kremer Depo., 527-529).9

BDO Seidman and its audits also became critical to Universal's existence on other fronts. (Butterworth Depo. 9, 17-18). First, Cayman insurance laws passed in 1979 and effective in 1980 required all Cayman insurance companies to be licensed by the Cayman Superintendent of Insurance. (Butterworth Depo., 9, 14-15). Audited financial statements were required for licensing, and the superintendent's office specifically relied on the BDO Seidman audits to issue Universal's license. (Butterworth Depo., 6-7, 43-44). Universal would not have been able to write insurance business without the license. (Butterworth Depo. 44). In addition, and as referenced above, the prospective attorneys for Universal had stated in writing (and BDO Seidman had a contemporaneous copy) that they would take no further action on behalf of Universal until the accountants certified the \$10 million CD, so Universal needed BDO Seidman's audit to get legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>BDO Seidman itself initially gave Universal 60 copies of its printed report, and BDO Seidman eventually provided Shah with 300 copies of the December 31, 1978 BDO Seidman audit. (Plaintiffs' Composite Exhibit 26, No.1, July 21, 1978 letter from BDO Seidman to Vishwa Shah; Kremer Depo. 527; Plaintiff's Composite Trial Exhibit 26, Tab 37).

representation. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12, No.14). Finally, BDO Seidman served as a reference for Universal. (T. 2659). 10

In fact, the Seidman audits enabled Universal to sell insurance quite successfully. (T. 721). When the Cayman Superintendent of Insurance finally suspended Universal's license in 1983, it turned out that one hundred and nineteen international reinsurance policyholders from all corners of the earth had coverage with Universal and had claims totalling \$33,088,844.06. (T. 721-22; Butterworth Depo., 10-11; Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 14).

Of the total, the Liquidator admitted claims in the amount of \$16,236,969.94 and rejected \$16,851,874.12. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 14). The claims rejected were mainly for lack of supporting documentation. (T. 739-742, 817, 876, 877, 883). The Liquidator was able to realize \$440,000 as an asset of Universal's in settlement as approved by the Cayman Grand Court. (T. 957, 1009, 1015). Thus, when the Liquidator had completed the claims process and the settlement, the Company's net deficit was \$15,796,969.94. (T. 722, 1015, 3694).

## 2. BDO Seidman's defenses and trial decisions on presentation of same

At trial, BDO Seidman factually contested the liability and damages issues on the Liquidator's negligence claim with witnesses and evidence, but the jury ultimately resolved these factual issues against BDO Seidman. (R. 1098-1099).

BDO Seidman also raised various affirmative defenses. (R. 234-238). Seidman presented those affirmative defenses pertinent here *solely* on the basis of legal arguments, not disputed facts. (R. *passim*; T. *passim*). Specifically, the most significant of Seidman's defenses for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>For example, in 1980 one of Universal's biggest clients became concerned about the \$10 million capitalization, and called BDO Seidman. (T. 2659). BDO Seidman affirmatively — and completely inaccurately — told the caller that there was no reason to be concerned. (T. 2659).

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