IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 14 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clork

Case No. 82,365

Allan Gee, as Official Liquidator of Universal Casualty & Surety Company, Ltd. (in Liquidation),

Petitioner,

v.

Seidman & Seidman, and Binder Dijke Otte & Co.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

Øaniel S. Pearson Lenore C. Smith Holland & Knight 701 Brickell Avenue **Suite 3000** Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 374-8500

Counsel for the Respondents

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Õ

This Court lacks jurisdiction because the district court has certified a question that it did not "pass upon." The question certified is whether a liquidator should be permitted to recover "for losses suffered *by the company's customers and creditors*." But the district court expressly declined to pass upon this question because, as it said, the Liquidator¹ in this case had for his own strategic purposes elected *not* to seek recovery for the company's customers and creditors. Thus, the question certified is not one arising in the case, but rather an abstract question posed by an amicus curiae, which calls for an advisory opinion that this Court cannot issue. Moreover, the question the district court actually decided, while of interest to the litigants, is not one of great public importance, and conflicts with no Florida law. Thus this Court is without jurisdiction, and the petition for review should be dismissed.

Should the Court reach the merits, we note that the district court addressed and decided only one of five points we raised on appeal, and, since that point was completely dispositive of the case, it went no further. If the remaining points should ever need to be addressed and decided, the district court is the appropriate forum.

The single point the district court did decide was this: the defendant (Seidman) is not liable to this plaintiff (the Liquidator, avowedly standing in the shoes of an insolvent Cayman Islands insurance company, Universal Casualty & Surety Co. Ltd.) under the circumstances of this case. The district court did not decide that the Seidman accounting firm even if found to have performed a negligent audit could not be liable to some other potential plaintiff who might be able to show that the negligence caused it injury.

¹We will refer to the respondents collectively as "Seidman" and to the petitioner as "the Liquidator."

The district court's decision was soundly based on well-established legal precedents. First, Universal, the company on whose behalf the Liquidator sued Seidman, could not rely on the audit because the individual or individuals who dominated and controlled the company, having committed the fraud which led to the misstatement in the financial report, knew of the misstatement that the accountants' audit failed to uncover. Second, that being the case, the Liquidator cannot be said to have relied on the audit because the dominator's knowledge is imputed to the company and the company's knowledge imputed to the Liquidator. Third, if therefore, reliance on the audit cannot be established, any negligence in failing to uncover that which the dominator -- as company -- as Liquidator -- already knows cannot be said to have *caused* damage to this three-headed plaintiff.

• .

The exception to this long-standing rule of imputation -- the so-called adverse interest exception -- comes into play only when it can be said that the dominator is acting adversely to the company when he commits his fraud. As the district court plainly understood, this exception was not applicable in this case where the company was in effect the alter ego of its dominator and used by him as an engine of theft, an instrument for the perpetration of the fraud. Although the Liquidator now intimates that the dominator's domination and control were a matter of dispute, the record and his concessions betray him.

The sum and substance of Seidman's "defense" in this case, then, was that the Liquidator simply could not prove reliance and thus causation, an element of his cause of action. This "defense" was not an affirmative one and Seidman had no burden to prove the Liquidator's lack of reliance or the lack of causation. The reference to "estoppel" in the district court's opinion is not a reference to some affirmative defense raised by Seidman, but simply a way of saying

2

that imputation was applicable and it prevented (in lay terms, "estopped") the Liquidator from proving his case.

Finally, there is not the slightest basis in the law to support the suggestion that some special rule immunizing insurance companies from imputation exists or should exist. It is preposterous to propose -- as the Liquidator does -- that this Court turn the law on its head to save him (a Cayman Islands Liquidator of a Cayman Islands insurance company who sued Seidman in Miami because it had an office there), when he, to prevent Seidman from defeating claims on behalf of or by reinsurers, elected to stand in the shoes of the company only, while those creditors abandoned their claims.

I.

THIS COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION

This case is in this Court because the District Court of Appeal for the Third District certified a question as one of great public importance. When jurisdiction of this Court was then sought, this Court ordered briefs on the merits, cautioning -- perhaps routinely, but in this case, presciently -- that it had "postponed its decision on jurisdiction." That postponement, we submit, will prove to be prudent, because, as this Court will readily see, the Third District did not, as is required for this Court's jurisdiction, "*pass upon*" the question certified.²

²The Florida Constitution provides that the Supreme Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance, . . ." Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. The Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that "[t]he discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought to review . . . decisions of district courts of appeal that . . . pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance; . . ." Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Fla. R. App. P.

The question certified is this:

Whether the liquidator of a bankrupt company should be permitted to recover for losses suffered by the company's customers and creditors, against an auditor which negligently failed to discover the fraud of the company's manager, where the manager's fraudulent act was intended to and did benefit the company.

District Court Order dated October 28, 1993 (R. 2091-92).³

Yet, the decision of the Third District, far from passing upon the question of whether the Liquidator should be permitted to recover "for losses suffered by the company's customers and creditors," expressly held that it was not passing upon that question because at all times -- at trial and on appeal -- the Liquidator had for his own strategic purposes (in the district court's words, the Liquidator's "calculated tactic") elected not to seek recovery for the company's customers and creditors. As the district court explained:

Reviewing the record below, at trial, the liquidator stated "the Liquidator brings *only* the claims of Universal itself . . . and is *not* seeking to bring the creditors['] claims himself." (emphases in original). Also, the liquidator's position on appeal, defending its award clearly stated again: "[t]he cause of action for artificial prolongation belongs to Universal itself, and exists separate and apart from any causes of action that might be brought by creditors." Further, the liquidator stated: "[t]he fact that it is insolvent, and thus its recovery from BDO Seidman will be used to retire its debts, does not . . . convert Universal's own cause of action by a liquidator asserting creditors' claims." No doubt, neither error

³We will refer to the record as "R.," the transcript of the trial as "T.," the Supplemental Record (filed with this Court by stipulation on December 8, 1993) as "SR," and the Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits as "Petitioner's Brief."

We have included in an appendix at the end of this brief a copy of the district court's order certifying the question (Appendix A) and a copy of the district court's decision, <u>Seidman & Seidman v. Gee</u>, 625 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), which includes, at 3-4, the Opinion on Rehearing Denied (Appendix B).

nor inadvertence led to the path chosen by the liquidator. The election made by the liquidator was thus a calculated tactic to avoid one or more obvious bars to recovery upon the theory that the action was brought on behalf of corporate creditors.

Seidman & Seidman v. Gee, 625 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

There can be no dispute about what the district court said and that it very deliberately limited its holding to the facts of the case and the Liquidator's tactically chosen theory.⁴ Indeed the opinion on rehearing changed nothing about the court's initial opinion and served the sole function of addressing the abstract concern of the amicus Florida's Department of Insurance⁵ that if and when it, as a statutory liquidator of bankrupt companies, sought to recover losses

When the district court observed that the Liquidator's election was "a calculated tactic to avoid one or more obvious bars to recovery upon the theory that the action was brought on behalf of corporate creditors," 625 So. 2d at 4, it likely also had in mind that although seventeen of Universal's creditors initially joined the Liquidator as plaintiffs (R. 35), fifteen of them took voluntary dismissals during discovery proceedings (R. 257-59, 266), the remaining two defected at the end of the Liquidator's case (T. 1695), and only the Liquidator's claim proceeded to verdict. Significantly, of the 17 plaintiffs, 16 had previously dismissed these same claims against Seidman in another court, so that the dismissals below operated as adjudication on the merits against those 16 plaintiffs. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.420(a)(1).

⁵The Department of Insurance was given leave to appear in the case after the district court's initial decision and permitted to file a brief in support of rehearing.

⁴In the beginning, the Liquidator's suit was "in behalf of all creditors" of Universal. Informed by Seidman's motion for summary judgment that, among other things, the suit in behalf of creditors was in effect a class action which had not met class action procedural and due process requirements; that the Liquidator had no standing to sue for creditors and indeed, his position as intended preserver of the company's assets was antagonistic to creditors' claims; that creditors, not being in privity with Seidman, had no cause of action against the auditor; and that even if a cause of action for creditors existed, it was long since barred by the applicable statute of limitations -- the Liquidator disavowed that he was bringing the creditors' claims and assured the trial judge and Seidman that he was bringing only the claims of Universal. As the district court later correctly observed, the Liquidator's response was that he "brings *only* the claims of Universal itself . . . and is *not* seeking to bring the creditors['] claims himself . . . (emphases in original)." 625 So. 2d at 4.

allegedly suffered by the customers and creditors of such companies, the district court's decision would hinder or preclude these actions.

Thus it was apparently because of the amicus that the district court, having first decided the case on April 14, 1992, reheard the case, entertained oral argument from the Department of Insurance, and after fourteen months issued its August 17, 1993 Opinion on Rehearing Denied. It there specifically noted the Department's argument:

> The thrust of the argument made by the Department of Insurance is that because an insurance company liquidator does not merely stand in the shoes of a corporation but does, in effect, have "much larger shoes," representing the interests of "insureds, creditors and the public generally," the company's knowledge of the fraud perpetrated should have not been imputed to this liquidator and, accordingly, this court erred in issuing its opinion in the accounting firm's favor.

625 So. 2d at 4.

The district court went on to explain, as we have said, that the Department's hypothetical liquidator bears no resemblance to Mr. Gee, the liquidator in the present case, who had repeatedly disavowed representing anyone other than the corporate entity, Universal Casualty & Surety Company, Ltd. (Universal). It was for this reason, said the district court, that the argument of the amicus was simply beside the point of the case:

[T]o accept the after-the-fact argument of amicus would unfairly change the theory of recovery upon which the case was tried and presented both in the trial court and before this court. Consequently, we do not reject the argument advanced by the amicus; it is only that it is inapplicable in the present case.

625 So. 2d at 4 (citations omitted).

Plainly then the district court did not "pass upon" the question it has certified, and, to that court's credit, it made no pretense about it and, indeed, avoided using the "pass upon" words in its certifying order.⁶

What was passed upon by the district court is that *these accountants* are not liable to *this plaintiff* under the circumstances of *this* case. That, quite obviously, does not mean that they are not liable to anyone -- but no one other than the Liquidator standing in the shoes of

It is well understood in Florida and other jurisdictions that courts will not consider questions raised only by amici curiae having no effect on the parties and not presented by the case. See, e.g., Higbee v. Housing Authority, 143 Fla. 560, 197 So. 479, 485 (1940) (Supreme Court would not consider questions presented by amici curiae concerning constitutionality of act creating housing authorities to undertake slum clearance where there was no justiciable controversy involved in the record as propounded by amici curiae and counsel for parties to cause did not present the questions raised); State v. Bell, 385 A.2d 1094, 1096 (Vt. 1978) ("we may not consider the claim of [an amicus curiae] who has not demonstrated an injury to his legal rights"); Alabama-Tennessee Natural Gas Co. v. City of Huntsville, 153 So. 2d 619 (Ala. 1963) ("[T]he [party on whose behalf the amicus appeared] was not a party to this suit, none of its rights are attempted to be determined by this suit, and if any of its rights are jeopardized, it is entitled to its day in court, when and if it is damaged and it seeks a remedy."); Long v. Odell, 372 P.2d 548, 550 (Wash. 1962) (en banc) ("It is . . . well established that appellate courts will not enter into the discussion of points raised only by amici curiae.") and authorities cited; McCleskey v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 523 n.10 (1991) ("It is well established . . . that this Court will not consider an argument advanced by amicus when that argument was not raised or passed on below and was not advanced in this Court by the party on whose behalf the argument is being raised.") (emphasis supplied). Compare Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288 (1989) (addressing question of retroactivity of habeas petitioner's claim raised by amicus curiae but noting that question was threshold one requiring consideration in any event). See also Simons v. Jorg, 375 So. 2d 288, 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (motion for leave to appear as amicus denied where question amicus sought to address was not before court).

⁶This, we submit, was no mistake. Even as the entire Opinion on Rehearing Denied was devoted to meeting the Department's concern, so too the question certified addressed not the question passed upon in the case, but instead the abstract question posed by the Department. The irony of all of this is, of course, that although the district court told the Department that *its* question was not involved in the case, by certifying the question, the district court invited this Court to do what neither it nor this Court could do, that is, issue an advisory opinion. This Court should accept the wisdom of the district court's restraint, and not its invitation.

Universal is asserting their liability.⁷ Having chosen to carry Universal's banner, the Liquidator was confronted by the district court's recognition that the fraud of Universal's undisputed dominator, Vishwa Shah, under very well-established legal principles, is imputed to the company and prevents it and its successor from maintaining the action. Nothing first impression; nothing radical; nothing exceptional; and nothing of great public importance about that.⁸

[T]he Muscle Shoals Natural Gas Corporation was not a party to this suit, none of its rights are attempted to be determined by this suit, and if any of its rights are jeopardized, it is entitled to its day in court, when and if it is damaged and it seeks a remedy. This court will not decide a question presented by amicus curiae which was not presented by the parties to the cause, and will leave the question for decision when properly raised and presented.

Alabama-Tennessee Natural Gas Co. v. City of Huntsville, 153 So. 2d 619, 628 (Ala. 1963).

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